STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Abbeville County

Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RICKEY SANTOINE HENLEY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-000844

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

### I.

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to quash the indictment based on Double Jeopardy where the trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to apply the proper test under *Yeager* and where Appellant's prior acquittal of larceny necessarily decided that Appellant was not the person who stole the homeowner's laptop, the sole item missing after the burglary, precluding the state from relitigating Appellant's identity as the intruder or intent to steal?

### II.

Whether the trial court erred in denying the defense's motion to admit evidence of Appellant's acquittal on the prior larceny charge where the state's theory of the case continued to be that the burglar's intention was to steal?

### III.

Whether the trial court erred in limiting the admission of Jolene Gray's testimony from the prior trial where Gray was unavailable to the defense and her testimony provided evidence that the police had an opportunity to obtain a cigarette smoked by Appellant from outside of his home?

### IV.

Whether the trial court erred in denying the defense's motion to exclude evidence regarding DNA testing conducted on the cigarette butt purportedly found at the scene where the state's negligence in the destruction of the evidence constituted bad faith and where the state could not present a complete a chain of custody for the cigarette butt such that the cigarette butt was not available for comparison to the crime scene photograph at trial?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Rickey Santoine Henley was arrested for first degree burglary and larceny on February 23, 2012, the day after he was questioned by police about the incident. Supp. R.1. On July 27, 2012, the Abbeville County Grand Jury returned indictments against Henley for the same offenses. R. 695.

On April 8-9, 2015, Henley proceeded to trial on both offenses before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh and a jury. Henley was represented by Patricia Bolen and Yasha Patel, and the state was represented by assistant solicitors Demetrios Andrews and Yates Brown. R. 1; R. 175. Following an *Allen*<sup>1</sup> charge, the jury returned a verdict of **not guilty on larceny**. However, the jury **hung on the count of first degree burglary**, such that Judge McIntosh declared a mistrial. R. 336 – 350.

Following denial of the defense's motion to preclude retrial under the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment, on April 4-6, 2016, Henley faced re-trial for the offense of first degree burglary before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. and a jury. R. 363, R. 384 – 402. The jury returned a verdict of guilty, and Judge Griffith sentenced Henley to twenty-four years incarceration. R. 664 – 674.

This appeal follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492 (1896).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to quash the indictment based on Double Jeopardy where the trial court erred as a matter of law in failing to apply the proper test under *Yeager* and where Appellant's prior acquittal of larceny necessarily decided that Appellant was not the person who stole the homeowner's laptop, the sole item missing after the burglary, precluding the state from relitigating Appellant's identity as the intruder or intent to steal.

#### *Relevant Facts*

##### Henley's First Trial

At Henley's first trial for first-degree burglary and larceny the solicitor averred in his opening statement that Moss' door was kicked down and "[s]he had personal property taken." 104, ll. 10-11. He said: "Mr. Henley has two indictments pending against him. One of them is for larceny; the other if for burglary in the first degree." R. 106, l. 24 – 107, l. 1. After reciting the elements of larceny and alleging that Henley took the personal property of Amanda Moss, he discussed the elements and anticipated proof of burglary. R. 107, ll. 1-16. He said:

The elements of burglary are entry into a dwelling without the owner or the occupant's consent with the intent to commit a crime therein. **And in this case, our theory is that Mr. Henley went into Ms. Moss' home, did so without consent, took personal property. And that was the crime he intended to commit.**

As to the burglary case, as to the burglary indictment rather, this is a charge of burglary first. And an additional element is that the person charged with burglary has been convicted of two prior burglaries. And there will be evidence about those two prior burglaries.

R. 107, ll. 6-16.

Ricky Culbreth testified that he was driving by the Moss' home at approximately 11:30 a.m. on February 15, 2012, when he noticed a silver car that he did not recognize backed into their carport with its backdoor open. He saw a black man wearing a do-rag ran from the front of the house to the side of the house. R. 117, l. 6 – 119, l. 4. Culbreth did a U-turn and pointed at

the man, who was standing in the doorway of the house. Culbreth said that it looked like the man threw something on the ground and then got into his car. The man pulled up next to Culbreth's white truck for a few seconds and asked if he needed any "yard help." R. 119, l. 12 – 120, l. 17; R. 130, ll. 22-24; R. 133, ll. 12-20. When Culbreth responded "no," the man turned left towards Anderson, but turned around and drove back past the house. R. 120, ll. 17-22. Culbreth walked to the house and called 911 at 11:39 a.m. He did not think that the call went through, but the dispatcher called him back at 11:43 a.m., at which time Culbreth reported the incident. R. 114, l. 16 – 116, l. 3; R. 120, l. 22 – 121, l. 1; R. 124, l. 16 – 125, l. 24.

Police arrived and found that side door to the Moss' home was open but there were no signs that anything had been tampered with inside of the home. The sole item missing was Ms. Moss' Dell laptop, valued at five hundred dollars, that had been on a bench just in side of the door. R. 136, l. 1 – 137, l. 9; R. 192, ll. 15-19. The laptop was never recovered. R. 231, ll. 17-19. Investigator Patrick Thompson photographed a boot print in the carpet inside of the home approximately one foot from where the laptop was taken. R. 196, l. 21 – 197, l. 6. He also photographed and allegedly collected a Newport cigarette butt from the ground just outside of the doorway to the Moss' home. R. 194, l. 15 – 195, l. 22; R. 197, l. 7 – 200, l. 8; Second Trial State's Exs. 11-12 (photos of cigarette butt). Ms. Moss said that neither she nor her husband were smokers. R. 138, ll. 16-17. Culbreth provided the police with a license plate number of HSN454 for the Pontiac Parisienne car that he saw the man driving, which he saw through his rearview mirror. R. 121, ll. 9-22; R. 207, l. 24 – 208, l. 2. When the police could not find a car with that description and plate number, they obtained a list of other possible license plate numbers and makes of cars. Appellant Henley was on that list because he owned a Pontiac

Bonneville with the license plate number HSM455. R. 200, l. 16 – 201, l. 9; R. 207, l. 1 – 208, l. 21.

On February 22, 2012, Thompson went to speak with Henley at his home. According to Thompson, Henley responded affirmatively that he had driven on Hwy 28 near Abbeville the week prior and spoken with a man in a white truck. He said that Henley explained that he had stopped to use the bathroom but denied going into any house. Thompson also claimed that Henley admitted to smoking Newport cigarettes and was wearing boots with a similar pattern as the print found in the Moss' home. R. 208, l. 12 – 209, l. 7; R. 212, l. 21 – 216, l. 19; R. 224, l. 21 – 230, l. 17. A photo array including Henley was shown to Culbreth, but he was only able to narrow it down to two people. R. 122, ll. 3-17; R. 209, l. 19 – 211, l. 15. The police lost the original photo array shown to Culbreth such that only a poor quality black and white copy was available at the first trial. R. 7, ll. 14-23; R. 222, l. 4 – 223, l. 4.

In addition to the lost photo array, the cigarette butt allegedly collected by law enforcement from the scene and accompanying chain of custody log were also lost and unavailable for Henley's trial. R. 219, l. 3 – 220, l. 5. Nonetheless, the judge admitted the state's DNA testing results, which found a match between the DNA on the cigarette provided to SLED and the known standard collected from Henley. R. 55 – 86; R. 160, l. 16 – 172, l. 6. Henley's ex-girlfriend, Jolene Gray, with whom he shared an apartment at the time of the incident, said that five police officers came to her house a second time when Henley was not there. They were walking around and picking something up off of the ground. R. 248, l. 14 – 249, l. 18; R. 259, ll. 5 – 260, l. 23; R. 261, ll. 14-25.

As far as his whereabouts on the date of the offense, Ms. Gray recalled that Henley left their apartment in Anderson, South Carolina between 8:00 a.m. and 9:00 a.m. to go to his

mother's house in Beech Island, South Carolina. She confirmed that Henley owned boots that she had gotten him for Valentine's Day and that he smoked Newport cigarettes. R. 249, l. 19 – 252, l. 23; R. 257, l. 7 – 259, l. 4; R. 260, l. 24 – 261, l. 7. Henley's mother, Ella Johnson, said that on February 15, 2015, Henley arrived at her home at approximately 10:00 a.m. with leftovers from his dinner with Ms. Gray. They went to Moe's Convenience Store at approximately 2:00 p.m., where Henley bought a beer. R. 262, l. 22 – 274, l. 9.

In his opening on the law at closing argument, the solicitor again recited the elements of burglary and larceny in tandem. He said:

Mr. Henley [is] charged with burglary in the first degree. He [is] also charged with larceny. So what is it we have to prove to you to be a burglar first degree? **Burglary is breaking and entering the dwelling of another with the intent to commit a crime inside that house, or inside that dwelling. In this case the dwelling of Amanda Moss and the intent to commit a crime in breaking and entering that dwelling. In this case, he's charged with larceny.** Larceny is the taking and carrying away the goods of another with the intent to permanently deprive that person of those goods. In this case, a laptop .. So those are the-- that's the law of the case. The burglary, going back to burglary first, to make it a burglary first is two prior convictions. And we'll deal with that a little bit later, but that makes it a burglary first.

R. 287, l. 21 – 288, l. 11 (emphasis added). In the latter portion of his closing, noted that a cigarette butt was found “on that side door, going in the side door, the same door that was kicked open and Mr. Henley went walking through **to go get that laptop.**” R. 308, ll. 6-12. He argued that Henley made a stop on his way to see his mother Beech Island and “swung by Ms. Moss's house and decided he wanted to take advantage of what she had inside while she was at work. **What did he take? A laptop.**” R. 309, ll. 13-17 (emphasis added). The solicitor sarcastically said that the boot print was “[m]iraculously close to that pedestal where that laptop was taken from that day.” R. 312, ll. 15-16. Ultimately, the jury acquitted Henley of larceny but hung on the count of first-degree burglary. R. 343, 17 – 349, l. 11.

Importantly, the defense made no challenge to whether a laptop was actually taken from the Moss' home or its value. Rather, the defense focused on alibi, mistaken identity and the unreliability of the DNA evidence. Counsel argued that the state's evidence regarding identity – namely the eyewitness testimony, DNA evidence, and alleged “confession” – were all flawed and failed to prove Henley's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. R. 290, l. 3 – 306, l. 3. She argued: “[T]he person he [Culbreth] saw at Ann Moss' house was not Rickey Henley.” R. 295, l. 15. Her argument regarding the state's failure to recover a laptop was not a suggestion that none was taken. Counsel pointed to that as another fact illustrating the police's shoddy investigation. R. 299, l. 10 – 300, l. 18.

Notably, the trial judge charged the jury both on alibi and identification. R. 325, l. 23 – 327, l. 2; R. 330, ll. 6-18. Regarding larceny, he charged:

The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant took and carried away the property of another against the will or without the consent of the other person. The slightest removal of the property or the complete possession of the property even if for an instance by the Defendant is enough to show a taking and carrying away of the property. The State must also prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the Defendant intended to permanently deprive the owner of the property.

R. 329, l. 21 – 330, l. 5.

### **Double Jeopardy Motion and Retrial**

The defense filed a Motion to Quash the Indictment Based on Double Jeopardy pursuant to Ashe v. Swanson, 397 U.S. 436 (1970), and Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110 (2009) R. 352; *see* R. 384, l. 22 – 400, l. 22. Counsel argued that the provision against double jeopardy precluded prosecution in Henley's case on the same conduct for which he was tried in 2015. R. 384, ll. 12-17. Counsel argued that in light of its holding that a hung count was a non-event not to be considered in determining the preclusive effect of the acquitted count, the Yeager Court

instructed lower courts to look at the acquitted count to determine what facts were decided by the jury. R. 384, l. 12 – 389, l. 8. In making such a determination the lower court must “examine the record of a prior proceeding . . . and conclude whether a rational jury could have grounded its verdict upon an issue other than that which the defendant seeks to foreclose from consideration.” Yeager, 557 U.S. at 119-20; R. 399, ll. 6-17; R. 400, ll. 18-21.

Though counsel recognized that the state is not required that the intended crime was actually committed, she argued that the acquittal on larceny necessarily decided that he did not take the laptop. R. 391, l. 8 – 392, l. 21. She noted that the facts in support of probable cause on the burglary warrant included:

That on February 15, 2012, in the county of Abbeville, one Rickey Santoine Henley did enter a dwelling located at . . . Hwy 28 N in Abbeville County, SC, without consent and with intent to commit a crime therein. Once inside the defendant did take, steal and carry away a Dell laptop computer from said residence. The defendant has prior Burglary convictions dated 12/07/2006 and 3/15/2002. Information from affiant and Sheriff’s Dept. investigation, report 12-2-55.

Supp. R. 1. She further noted that “[t]he State’s theory as presented in both of their opening and closing, as well as by their witness testimony, . . . was that Mr. Henley went into this home and took a Dell laptop computer. She submitted that there was no other evidence that any other crime was intended to have been committed inside the home other than theft of the laptop. R. 386, ll. 6-9; R. 390, l. 18 – 391, l. 8.

In response, the solicitor noted that the indictment on burglary made no reference to larceny. However, he admitted that the acquittal on larceny “puts us in a much tougher spot with regard to proving the burglary,” understanding that the state could not mention the laptop at the retrial like they did in their arguments at the first trial. R. 392, l. 23 – 393, l. 23. He pointed the court to State v. Peterson, 336 S.C. 6, 518 S.E.2d 277 (Ct. App. 1999), in support of the state’s

position that it is merely required to prove that there was an intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, not that the underlying crime actually occurred. R. 394, ll. 4-21. He further referenced State ex rel. Taylor v. Janes, 693 S.E.2d 82 (W.Va. 2010), wherein the defendant was acquitted of conspiracy but the state was allowed to retry him on the hung count of murder. R. 394, l. 21 – 395, l. 7. The solicitor submitted that their proof of intent to commit a crime therein would be in the form of testimony that Henley’s case was backed up under the Moss’ garage with the back door open and was startled by the witness who saw him in the house – probably caught right at the beginning of his burglary and didn’t have time to get into that much. R. 395, l. 23 – 396, l. 15.

In response, defense counsel distinguished the West Virginia case by noting that there was no overlapping fact necessary to prove murder and conspiracy to commit murder. However, she argued that in the present case Henley was found not guilty of the only crime that the state could possibly try to prove that he committed therein. R. 396, l. 16 – 399, l. 6. Though counsel averred that review of the transcripts of the first trial was necessary to the court’s finding, the trial judge did not take a copy of the transcript. R. 399, l. 6 – 400, l. 21. He ruled that counsel’s argument was a directed verdict type argument, which she could renew at that stage. He found that the state has the “burden of proving with the intent to commit a crime” but that the acquittal of the larceny did not preclude them from presenting facts from which the jury could infer intent to commit a crime therein. R. 399, l. 18 – 400, l. 10. The trial judge said that he found the Peterson “on point.” R. 402, ll. 1-23.

The second trial proceeded and Henley was convicted of first-degree burglary. R. 664, l. 14 – 666, l. 22. The state presented much of the same evidence as it did at the first trial, but successfully excluded Jolene Gray’s testimony that officers returned to the apartment that she

shared with Henley and picked something up off the ground. See discussion *infra*, Issue III. In his closing argument at the second trial, the solicitor contended:

The carport, the car backed in, the back door open, the door kicked in. Folks, I'll submit to you **his intent was to go in there and clean them out.** Just so happened, Mr. Culbreth came by at the right time and turned around and came back before Mr. Henley could start loading it up.

R. 640, ll. 16-19 (emphasis added); and

He [Henley] left Anderson to go down to Beech Island, but he made a stop on the way. He made a stop at the Moss' house **to see what they had good in there.** They said the windows, you could see right in and **see what they had** in there and he stopped. **He thought he'd get a little treasure trove** as he went on down to Aiken.

R. 646, l. 20 – 647, l. 1 (emphasis added).

### ***Discussion***

The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment, applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, offers protection to citizens from being subjected to double jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const. amend. V (“No person shall be... subject for the same offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb...”); U.S. Const. amend. XIV . The guarantee against double jeopardy offers three separate constitutional protections: (1) protection against a second prosecution for the same offense after acquittal; (2) protection against prosecution for the same offense after conviction; and (3) protection against multiple punishments for the same offense. State v. Cuccia, 353 S.C. 430, 434, 578 S.E.2d 45, 48 (Ct. App. 2003). In Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970), the United States Supreme Court found the previously civil concept of collateral estoppel applicable to criminal cases, writing:

“Collateral estoppel” is an awkward phrase, but it stands for an extremely important principle in our adversary system of justice. It means simply that when an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot again be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit.

See also State v. Hewins, 409 S.C. 93, 106, 760 S.E.2d 814, 821 (2014).

The Double Jeopardy Clause embodies two vitally important interests. Yeager v. United States, 557 U.S. 110, 117 (2009). The first is the “deeply ingrained” principle that “the State with all its resources and power should not be allowed to make repeated attempts to convict an individual for an alleged offense, thereby subjecting him to embarrassment, expense and ordeal and compelling him to live in a continuing state of anxiety and insecurity, as well as enhancing the possibility that even though innocent he may be found guilty.” Id. at 117-18 (quoting Green v. United States, 355 U.S. 184, 187–188 (1957)). The second interest is the preservation of “the finality of judgments.” Id. at 118 (quoting Crist v. Bretz, 437 U.S. 28, 33 (1978)).

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