STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED  
MAR 16 2020  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM ABBEVILLE COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000844

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RICKEY SANTOINE HENLEY,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29648  
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

of the home, it is unclear whether Appellant is alleging law enforcement used a second cigarette found at Appellant's home to fabricate DNA evidence or whether Appellant is asseverating the collection of another cigarette would have somehow altered the positive DNA result with respect to the cigarette found at the Moss's home. Regardless, Appellant was not prejudiced by the evidence's exclusion where the chain of custody for the cigarette established that law enforcement collected a cigarette from the Moss's home, sent it to SLED for testing, and the test returned a positive result as to Appellant's DNA. The collection of a second cigarette at Appellant's home by law enforcement would have done nothing to change this result. As to the assertion that Gray's testimony was necessary to support the defense argument that law enforcement neglected to obtain a search warrant and search Appellant's home for corroborating evidence such as a doo-rag or burglary tools, Appellant was not prejudiced by the evidence's exclusion where that theory was still presented to the jury. As noted by the trial judge in his ruling, Defense Counsel had the opportunity to, and did, emphasize multiple times during closing argument that law enforcement declined to search Appellant's home for a doo-rag, burglary tools, or other corroborating evidence. Appellant thus suffered no prejudice from the exclusion of the testimony. Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

#### IV.

**Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review where he failed to object to the admission of the evidence at trial. Error preservation concerns notwithstanding, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion to exclude the evidence regarding DNA testing performed on the cigarette butt found at the Moss's home that tested positive for Appellant's DNA where there was no presentation that the evidence was lost in bad faith and the State completed a complete chain of custody from the cigarette's collection through the testing of the cigarette by SLED and subsequent return of the evidence to the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

During his direct examination, Deputy Thompson testified the cigarette butt found at the Moss's residence was collected and turned into evidence. Deputy Thompson described the procedure employed, testifying:

The cigarette you would document it by photograph and place. And then a DNA article, which is what it's been collected for, fresh gloves, we put it into a paper bag and not seal it in any kind of plastic that would destroy the evidence for lack of oxygen. And it would be submitted into a clean new bag.

R. p. 525. The evidence bag was then sealed with tamper-proof tape. R. p. 525. Deputy Thompson testified he picked the cigarette butt up, placed it into the evidence bag, and sealed it with tape. R. pp. 525-26. Deputy Thompson stated no other officers handled the cigarette butt prior to his arrival at the crime scene. R. p. 525. Deputy Thompson testified that after collecting the evidence, the next step is to take the evidence to the law enforcement center whether it is either put into a secure drop-box or is handed directly to Chief Marion Johnson, who was the evidence custodian at the time. R. p. 526.

Chief Johnson was employed as the Chief Deputy of the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office from 1989 to 2013. R. p. 548. Chief Johnson was also the department's evidence custodian. R. p. 549. Chief Johnson testified that after Deputy Thompson collected and sealed the cigarette butt, it was turned over to him. R. p. 551. After receiving the cigarette butt, Chief

Johnson logged the evidence in and put it in the evidence locker. R. p. 551. On March 29, 2012, Chief Johnson gave the cigarette butt to Investigator Ryan Abernathy, who transported it to SLED. R. pp. 551-52, 562-63. Before sending the bag to SLED, Chief Johnson confirmed the bag had not been tampered with. R. p. 560. Investigator Abernathy subsequently transported the cigarette butt back to the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office from SLED on August 10, 2012. R. pp. 552-53, 563.

Maryanne Boehm is employed in the DNA casework department at SLED. R. p. 570. Boehm received a Newport cigarette butt for testing in Appellant's case. R. p. 573. Boehm testified the cigarette butt was transported from the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office on March 29, 2012, by Investigator Abernathy. R. p. 573. When Abernathy arrived, the evidence was submitted to Doris Yarbrough, a forensic technician. Boehm testified that once the evidence was received:

So the cigarette butt is placed into a heat-sealed SLED pouch that is sealed and dated and initialed by the submitted investigator. It is then put on a secure shelf in the evidence vault. Not many people have access to this. Just the forensic technicians in evidence control and administration are the only ones who have access to this evidence storage location. Then, when I was assigned the case, I retrieved the evidence through an evidence technician, Amy Stevens. She retrieved the evidence, and then handed it to me and I took it into my custody at that time.

R. pp. 573-74. Boehm testified that the evidence bag had not been tampered with or damaged in any way. R. p. 574. Boehm subsequently performed DNA analysis on the cigarette butt. R. p. 575. Boehm was shown the photograph of the cigarette butt collected at the Moss's home and testified that it was consistent with the cigarette butt she tested. R. p. 576. As noted in Respondent's Statement of Facts, the DNA profile developed from the cigarette butt matched the DNA profile of Appellant. R. p. 580. After the positive result, Boehm issued a report based on her findings and returned the evidence back to SLED's evidence control unit. R. p. 581. The

solicitor asked Boehm, "Now, Ms. Boehm, I showed you a picture of the cigarette butt, but I didn't actually show you the butt that you tested in the package today. Does that change the fact of your DNA outcome, your results?" Boehm replied, "No, sir." Boehm testified the absence of the cigarette at trial did not change her interpretation of the evidence or the test's results. R. p. 581-82.

Chief Johnson retired from the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office in May of 2013. R. p. 553. At the time of his retirement, all the evidence obtained in Appellant's case was still in the evidence room. R. p. 554. Sometime after the evidence was returned to the sheriff's office, it went missing. R. p. 555. Prior to trial, Appellant made a motion to suppress any testimony or mention of the cigarette butt. R. p. 440. Defense Counsel made an exceptionally detailed argument based on various criticisms of the chain of custody and asserting the admission would violate Appellant's rights under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. See RA. pp. 441-454. The trial judge ruled:

I don't think it's suppressed, though. Now, on that, I'm going to leave it more or less a motion in limine, because the summary by both of y'all as to the facts, because a summary of facts is not sworn testimony. If we get in trial and I hear something different, I may change my mind. . . . It seems more to be a motion in limine and that's how I'm ruling on it. Assuming everything comes in as y'all outlined it; that will be my findings. It will be a careless or negligent losing of the evidence but will be admitted; the DNA result will be. Assuming the foundation for all the others can be met, but if the testimony doesn't support what y'all have outlined, then I may change my ruling and you can renew that motion and suppress. That make sense? I think that's the best way to handle it.

R. p. 455.

### **Discussion**

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred in denying the defense's motion to exclude evidence regarding the DNA testing performed on the cigarette butt found at the Moss's home that tested positive for Appellant's DNA. Appellant makes this argument on two separate

grounds. First, Appellant contends the State's negligence in maintaining the evidence constitutes bad faith. Second, Appellant avers the State presented an insufficient chain of custody because the physical cigarette was not available for comparison to the crime scene photograph at trial. These arguments lack merit. Appellant failed to present any evidence of bad faith on the part of law enforcement in losing the cigarette butt. Further, the State presented a clear and complete chain of custody of the cigarette butt from the time of collection through the item's testing by SLED and subsequent return to the Abbeville County Sheriff's Office.

As a threshold matter, Appellant's argument is not preserved for appellate review because he failed to object to the evidence's admission at trial. The trial judge indicated he was making a ruling *in limine*, and that his ruling was subject to change. It was then incumbent upon Defense Counsel to contemporaneously object in order to get a final ruling and preserve the issue for appellate review. An *in limine* ruling is not final and a contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue for appeal. State v. Wannamaker, 346 S.C. 495, 499, 552 S.E.2d 284, 286 (2001). A pre-trial ruling on the admission of evidence is not considered final and a party must renew his objection at the time the evidence is admitted. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993). Appellant failed to offer a contemporaneous objection at the time the evidence concerning DNA testing of the cigarette butt was admitted. The issue is thus not preserved for review by this Court.

Error preservation concerns notwithstanding, Appellant's argument wholly fails on the merits. "Under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, criminal prosecutions must comport with prevailing notions of fundamental fairness." California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 485 (1984). The fundamental fairness standard requires criminal defendants to be given a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. Id.; see State v. Harris, 311 S.C.

162, 167, 427 S.E.2d 909, 912 (Ct. App. 1993) (“Due process requires that a criminal defendant be given a reasonable opportunity to present a complete defense.”). However, “[t]he State does not have an absolute duty to preserve potentially useful evidence that might exonerate a defendant.” State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 538, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307 (2001). In order to warrant suppression based on the loss or destruction of evidence, the defendant must show either: (1) the State destroyed the evidence in bad faith; or (2) the State destroyed evidence possessing an exculpatory value apparent before the evidence was destroyed and no other evidence of comparable value can be obtained by other means. State v. Mabe, 306 S.C. 355, 358-359, 412 S.E.2d 386, 388 (1991). “Whatever duty the Constitution imposes on the States to preserve evidence, that duty must be limited to evidence that might be expected to play a significant role in the suspect’s defense.” Trombetta, 467 U.S. at 488. Critically, “[t]he mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish ‘materiality’ in the constitutional sense.” United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 109-110 (1976); see Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 57 (1988) (“[W]e think the Due Process Clause requires a different result when we deal with the failure of the State to preserve evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant.”).

In State v. Reaves, 414 S.C. 118, 777 S.E.2d 213 (2015), the South Carolina Supreme Court dealt with a case where multiple pieces of evidence were collected at the crime scene but were missing at the time of trial. On appeal, Reaves argued the evidence lost by police in the investigation of his case effectively deprived him of his fundamental right to a fair trial under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. Id. at 125. Reaves made no allegation the police acted intentionally, however he asserted the police’s

actions in failing to preserve the evidence were so egregious and negligent that it constituted bad faith. Id. at 127. The Supreme Court disagreed, noting, “Although the record is replete with indications the police investigation was deeply flawed, the record also contains no indications these flaws were the product of more than mere negligence.” Id. at 129. The Supreme Court ruled, “Accordingly, although we acknowledge there are deeply troubling aspects of the investigation in this case, the errors made by the police do not indicate bad faith as is required to dismiss an indictment under the federal constitutional test.” Id. at 129.

In Appellant’s case, as in Reaves, Appellant is unable to make any showing concerning bad faith. While the State admittedly lost the cigarette butt sometime before trial, the only evidence presented was that the evidence was returned to the Abbeville County Sheriff’s Office and was lost sometime after Chief Graham’s retirement. Appellant failed to present any evidence concerning bad faith on the part of law enforcement. The actions of law enforcement in losing the evidence were at the most mere negligence, and it cannot be inferred that law enforcement acted in bad faith simply because the evidence was lost. See State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 546, 665 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 2008) (“The foregoing demonstrates the State’s actions were not in bad faith but rather an inadvertent mistake.”); Jean v. Collins, 221 F.3d 656, 663 (4th Cir. 2000) (instructing bad faith in the context of the loss or destruction of evidence “requires that the officer have intentionally withheld the evidence for the purpose of depriving the plaintiff of the use of that evidence during his criminal trial”); United States v. Vera, 61 F.App’x. 330, 331 (9th Cir. 2003) (“An officer does not act in bad faith unless he or she acts with the purpose of depriving the defendant of the potentially exculpatory evidence. Although the property officer may have acted negligently or even recklessly in destroying the chemical samples, there is no evidence that the officer acted in bad faith by deliberately destroying the evidence to deprive [the

defendant] of access to relevant evidence.”). Appellant attempts to distinguish Reaves by arguing, “Here, the missing evidence is of far greater importance, as it relates directly to the admissibility of the state’s DNA evidence and there was evidence at the first trial that the police went to [Appellant’s] residence and picked something off the ground.” Br. of App. p. 30. Appellant’s argument wholly ignores the underlying reasoning of Reaves, where, regardless of the evidence’s importance, there was absolutely no proof of bad faith on the part of law enforcement. Furthermore, the State disagrees with Appellant’s characterization of the cigarette butt as critical evidence. The DNA test result was certainly critical evidence; however, the presence of the cigarette butt itself at trial would have done nothing to change that evidence. The presence of the physical cigarette for comparison would have contributed nothing of value, as Defense Counsel would have undoubtedly pointed out that the cigarette was a non-descript item without any telling markings, therefore it was impossible to tell whether that was the same one as the cigarette butt in the photograph taken at the Moss’s home. The State would also note that the presence of the physical cigarette would have contributed nothing to Appellant’s defense, as it was inculpatory evidence, rather than exculpatory. See Breeze, 379 S.C. at 546, 665 S.E.2d at 252 (“Here, the destroyed evidence [the appellant] complains of was inculpatory rather than exculpatory.”).

As to Appellant’s argument concerning the chain of custody, the absence of the cigarette butt at trial did not render the chain of custody incomplete. The whereabouts of the cigarette butt were fully accounted for from the time of collection through the evidence’s return to the Abbeville County Sheriff’s Office after the testing by SLED was completed. “The ultimate goal of chain of custody requirements is simply to ensure that the item is what it is purported to be.” State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 95, 708 S.E.2d 750, 755 (2011); see United States v. Howard-

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